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This property occupies a prominent knoll overlooking Rockville Pike 
(.Route 355) just south of the Capital Beltway. It consists of a 
cemetery, parsonage and the church itself.

The church is a large, frame structure built in the Greek Revival 
"temple" form. It is one of very few Montgomery County examples 
of this elsewhere popular style, and even this building features 
prominent Gothic-style windows throughout.

The gabled main facade faces east and contains three bays. The 
central entrance is flanked by two large pointed-arch windows 
identical to the Gothic-style windows along the sides of the building. 
The bays are separated by wooden pilasters which also emphasize the 
corners of the building. The pilasters support a wide frieze that 
wraps around the structure beneath the eaves. The gable end -here is 
of shiplap siding, and a recessed carved panel reads "Bethesda 
Church, Rebuilt 1850." The rest of the siding on the church is of 
clapboards.

Each of the double doors has two raised vertical panels. There 
is a large, pointed-arch overlight above the doors that features 
delicate, "foliated" muntins and stained glass panes. The open, 
two-story pedimented portico that spans the entire front is an early 
20th century addition. An old photograph of the church shows a much ' 
smaller hood-type portico, decorated with shingles (probably a 
Victorian addition itself.)-'- A bell (reportedly once owned by Paul 
Revere) now rests on a wooden frame that is suspended near the 
ceiling of the portico. True to the Greek form, the church never 
included a bell tower.

With the exception of the windows, the sides and rear of the church 
repeat the Greek Revival style of the front, i.e., boxed cornice, 
frieze and pilasters. The sides are three bays deep and the windows, 
like those on the front, feature triple sash with a fixed-arch section 
of foliated muntin atop double-hung, fifteen-over-twenty sections.

The grade slopes downward towards the rear of the church, so that a 
partial basement is exposed. It is made of stone taken from the ruins 
of the previous church. The northeast cornerstone of this 1850 
church is also from the earlier building. It reads "BMH 1820." 
At the rear of the church, a small, three-sided apse is cantilevered 
out over the basement wall. It features two small Gothic windows. 
The present roof of the entire building is asphalt shingle.

Inside, the church also exhibits few modern changes. An entrance 
vestibule is formed underneath the former slave gallery. The

See continuation sheet #1
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Architecturally, the Bethesda Meeting House and parsonage represent 
sophisticated styles that, for one reason or another, never flourished 
in Montgomery County.

The background of the church and its various congregations is inextricably 
linked with the history of Montgomery County, from its earliest inception 
up to present times. In fact, the name of the modern community of 
Bethesda is taken from this landmark church. The word refers to a place 
of healing mentioned in the Bible. It is especially significant that 
present day Bethesda, Maryland, is known world wide as a center of healing, 
due to the Bethesda Naval Hospital, the National Institute of Health, 
and the National Library of Medicine located there.

The church is the subject of a recently written, full length book 
that documents its history fully. A brief summary of that history 
appears below:

The stuprcture now known as the Temple Hill Baptist Church was originally 
the Bethesda Presbyterian Church, erected in 1850. The Bethesda 
Presbyterian congregation had its origins in the group founded by the 
Reverends Hugh Conn and John Orme, before the Revolutionary War. The 
group's original meeting house was built on an acre of land deeded 
to the Presbyterians by Edward Offutt in 1746. The land was in the 
Captain John Creek area, and the worship center subsequently became 
known as the "Cabin John" Meeting House.

[The exact derivation of the term Cabin John is unknown. Some assert 
that the name came from Captain John Smith, the first white settler in 
the area. Other sources suggest that a stranger who built a log house 
in the area became known as John of the Cabin. (Clark, The Spirit of 
Captain John.)]

The records indicate that in its early days the congregations of Cabin 
John and Bladensburg were united and shared the services of the same 
minister. One of the outstanding early pastors was James Hunt, who 
graduated from Princeton in 1759 and was ordained by the Presbytery 
of New Brunswick, N.J., the following year. Hunt led the United

See continuation sheet #3
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DESCRIPTION (.continued)

center aisle is flanked by rows of wooden pews. The original pews 
Cremoved to Bethesda, and subsequently taken to a mission in North 
Carolina) have been replaced by Gothic-style pews from the old 
First Baptist Church of Washington. To the right of these, the 
side-window glass is clear, to allow light, while the rest of 
the glass in the church is rare stained glass, reportedly from 
Sandwich.., Massachusetts. Behind the small, elevated pulpit in 
the chancel, the light from the apse gives illumination. Present 
ceiling chandeliers are electric, but marks of the previous gas and 
oil lamps can be seen on the ceiling which is a high, flat surface.

Attention is drawn to the front of the church by an arched, vault-type 
opening over the apse. It is trimmed with the same Greek-style 
pilaster molding seen throughout the building. On both sides 
of this are slim brick chimney stacks that have been plastered 
over. They once were used as flues for the heating stove and 
carried an elevated pipe toward the rear of the structure. The present 
heating system, like most of the few modernizations here, has been 
well screened; it rises through grates in the old oak floor between 
the pews.

To the south of the church is the parsonage. This is a two-story, 
frame Victorian structure of a modified cruciform plan. Church 
records show that a "manse" was built here for the preacher in 
1851. Subsequent church records were fairly well kept and these 
make no mention of a later parsonage. If the present building 
was indeed built in 1851 or so, it was 30 or 40 years before the 
style became generally accepted in Montgomery County. Although it 
exhibits traits of the later "Queen Anne" style Cshingled gables, 
one-over-one sash, German siding, etc.), it also possesses a number 
of "Cottage Gothic" motifs made popular by Andrew Jackson Downing 
between 1840 and 1870. The house is festooned with hood-type 
gables, verandahs, scrolled brackets, bay windows, etc., all of 
these basic to a Downing-influenced house. Although not a strictly 
Gothic-appearing structure, the design may have been based on a 
pattern shown in Cottage Residences (1842) or The Architecture 
of Country Houses (1850). 3
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At any rate, the present building is a particularly noteworthy piece 
of architecture, and appears to have been standing for a number of years 
when a photograph of it was taken in 1918. ̂ Downing and his protege, 
Calvert Vaux, had designed the Dodge houses in Washington in the 1850 's. 
Rev. Smith, rector at Bethesda Church at that period, was a native of 
New England and a former Baltimore merchant, who was certainly aware 
of developments in architecture outside of Montgomery County. ̂

^Photograph appears in the Washington Star, "Rambler" article, May 
18, 1919.

2Eugene & Edythe Clark, The Spirit of Captain John (New York, 1970) , 
p. 131.

^Carolyn Flaherty, "The Domestic Architecture of Downing," Old 
House Journal (New York, October 1974) .

4Unpublished glass-plate negative in the "Rambler" collection, Columbia 
Historical Society, Washington, D.C.

Georgetown Architecture , Historic American Buildings Survey Selections, 
#10, 1970, by the Commission of Fine Arts and H.A.B.S., pp. 17-36.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE (continued)

congregations during the time of colonial unrest and was an ardent 
advocate of an independent America. In 1779 Hunt acquired 365 acres 
in Montgomery County; the land was about six miles south of Rockville 
and bounded on the east and west by present day Old Georgetown and 
Seven Locks Roads. It was at this farm, named Tusculum after a mountain 
outside of Rome, that he founded the first private secondary school 
for boys. Many of the students boarded at the nearby home of Samuel 
Wade Magruder. Perhaps Reverend Hunt's most famous pupil was William 
Wirt, who served as U.S. Attorney General from 1817 to 1829, and was 
a presidential candidate in 1832 on the Anti-Masonic ticket. After 
Reverend Hunt's death in 1793 the Cabin John congregation became 
affiliated with those at Seneca and Difficult, abandoning its 
connection with Bladensburg.

In 1820 the Presbytery of Baltimore directed that a church be organized 
on the Rockville Pike for Presbyterians in the southern reaches of the 
Cabin John congregation. The Elders purchased a parcel of land on the 
Pike, which was part of the tract Leeke Forest, and either built or 
converted a structure already there to serve as the Bethesda Meeting 
House. John Mines was pastor of the Bethesda and Rockville congregations 
from 1823 to 1849. He also served as the principal of the Rockville 
Academy.

The first Bethesda Meeting House was destroyed by fire on November 23, 
1849. The pastor, Randolph Smith, immediately set out to build a new 
church. He not only solicited subscriptions, but also participated 
in the actual construction. The stones of the original structure 
were used as the foundation of the new wooden church. This new 
building, on a hill overlooking the Rockville Pike, served as the Bethesda 
Presbyterian Church from 1850 until 1925 when the congregation decided 
to erect a new church farther south in Bethesda. The records of the 
church contain references to the baptisms, marriages and funerals of 
many of the area's prominent families. Among them were the names 
Magruder, Stone, Willson, Perry, Veirs and Muncaster.

t
When the church moved to its new location, the trustees sold the 
building and seven acres of land to May Fitch Kelley in 1925. The 
Presbyterian congregation, however, retained ownership of the cemetery 
and the graveyard. Mrs. Kelley, who held the property for twenty years,

See continuation sheet §4
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sold it to a Catholic missionary group, the White Fathers (a Canadian 
group). After several changes of ownership, the property was purchased 
by the trustees of the Temple Hill Baptist Church in the 1950's. 
Reverend William B. Adams, the pastor since then, has turned down several 
lucrative offers to sell the property, and he and his congregation have 
recently embarked on a program to restore the old church.


